
 
 

NEVADA TAHOE REGIONAL PLANNING AGENCY 
GOVERNING BOARD 

MEETING PACKET 
Thursday November 3, 2022 

Carson City, NV 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS         PAGE # 
       
Agenda          1-3 
 
Nevada Member at Large Selection – Staff Report   4-5 
 Exhibit 1: Member Williamson Interest    6 
 
Election of Chair and Vice Chair – Staff Report   7-8 
 
Recognition of Service for Secretary Barbara Cegavske  9 
 
Recognition of Service for Mark Bruce     10 
 
Tahoe Nugget Recertification Request – Staff Report  11-20 
 Exhibit 1: Plans Submitted for Condition 1 Eligibility  21-24 
 Exhibit 2: Tahoe Nugget Comparison Table    25 

Exhibit 3: Building Changes Diagram     26 
Exhibit 4: Public Area Breakdown     27 

 Exhibit 5: NTRPA Diagram and Definitions    28-30 



Exhibit 6: 1995 Board Meeting Minutes    31-49 
Exhibit 7: Original 1987 Certified Plans    50-51 
Exhibit 8: Historical and Current Conditions Photos   52-62 
Exhibit 9: Revised NTRPA Certified Base Table   63 
 
 
 
 

Direct individual links to all the meeting materials are also available at   
 
http://lands.nv.gov/land-use-planning/nevada-tahoe-regional-
planning-agency/ntrpa-meeting-agendas-and-minutes 
 

 
 

 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
         



1 
 

  

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

901 S. Stewart St. Suite 5003 
Carson City, Nevada  89701-5246 

Phone  (775) 684-2720  Fax  (775) 684-2721 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING  
  

NEVADA TAHOE REGIONAL PLANNING AGENCY 
GOVERNING BOARD 

 
Thursday November 3, 2022 

2:00 PM 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency Governing Board 
will hold a public meeting on Thursday November 3, 2022.  This will be a hybrid meeting 
with both in person and virtual attendance options. The meeting will be held at the 
Division of Health and Human Services Carson City Administrative Office Conference Room 
149 1470 E College Parkway Carson City, NV.  
 
OR TEAMS 
 
The meeting will also be available via Microsoft Teams at https://bit.ly/3ShouCS or  
Meeting ID: 226 271 100 234 
Passcode: Pv5pvo 
 
By Phone 
 
Phone: 775-321-6111  
Phone Conference ID: 685 157 427# 
 
The Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency uses Microsoft Teams, a third-party app, for 
its virtual meetings and does not control its technical specifications or requirements. Your 
ability to participate in the public comment portions of a meeting may be impacted by 
factors including but not limited to the type of device you use, the strength of your 
internet or cellular signal, and the company that provides your internet or cellular service. 
The Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency is not responsible if you are not able to 
participate in a meeting through Microsoft Teams due to these or any other factors. For 
questions or additional information, you may contact Scott Carey, State Lands Planner at 
775-684-2723 or at scarey@lands.nv.gov.  
 
Public comment may also be submitted via email prior to the meeting, please submit 
public comments to scarey@lands.nv us by 5 PM on November 2, 2022. 

1



2 
 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Call to Order. 
 a. Roll Call. 
 b. Pledge of Allegiance 

c. Approval of Agenda – For Possible Action. 
 d. Approval of Minutes of the August 1, 2022 Meeting – For Possible Action. 
2. Public Comment – An opportunity for general comments from the public, may 

be limited to 3 minutes per person. (Note: The Board may not discuss any 
subject or issue that is not on this agenda during this time.) 

3. Discussion and Selection of Nevada Member at Large – For Possible Action – 
To serve a one-year term commencing on January 1, 2023 pursuant to NRS 
277.200, Article 3, section a, subsection 2. Hayley Williamson is the current 
Nevada Member at Large and her term ends on December 31, 2022. – For 
Possible Action. 

4. Election of Chair – To serve a two-year term commencing on January 1, 2023 
pursuant to NRS 278.800. Commissioner Alexis Hill is the current Chair and her 
term ends on December 31, 2022. – For Possible Action. 

5. Election of Vice Chair – To serve a two-year term commencing on January 1, 
2023 pursuant to NRS 278.800. Hayley Williamson is the current Vice Chair and 
her term ends on December 31, 2022.  – For Possible Action. 

6. Recognition of Service to NTRPA for Secretary Barbara Cegavske – For Possible 
Action.  

7.  Recognition of Service to NTRPA for Mark Bruce – For Possible Action.  
8. Recertification of the Certified Base Data for the Tahoe Nugget Structure 

Housing Gaming in Stateline – Review and consideration of a recertification 
request for the public area, base area, non-base area, gaming area, and cubic 
volume, for the Tahoe Nugget pursuant to the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning 
Agency - Plan Review Procedures Policy, and NRS 277.200 – APN 1318-23-401-
049. 177 US Highway 50, Stateline, Nevada. – For Possible Action. 

9.  Overview of Roles and Responsibilities of Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning 
Agency – Informational Only. 

10. Report of the Executive Officer on Activities of the Agency: August 2022 – 
October 2022 – Informational Only. 

11. Board Member Comments 
12. Public Comment – An opportunity for general comments from the public, may 

be limited to 3 minutes per person. (Note: The Board may not discuss any 
subject or issue that is not on this agenda during this time.) 

13. Adjournment 
 
Notice:  Items on the agenda may be taken out of order at the discretion of the Chair, the public 
body may combine two or more items for consideration; and the public body may remove an item 
or defer discussion of an item on the agenda at any time. 
 
Documentation and supporting agenda items are available on the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning 
Agency Website at http://lands.nv.gov/land-use-planning/nevada-tahoe-regional-planning-
agency/ntrpa-meeting-agendas-and-minutes and will be available at the NTRPA Governing Board 
Meeting meeting. For further information you may contact Scott Carey at 775-684-2723 or at 
scarey@lands.nv.gov.  
 

2



3 
 

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at the 
meeting are requested to notify Scott Carey at the Division of State Lands, 901 S. Stewart St., Suite 
5003, Carson City, Nevada 89701 or by calling (775) 684-2723, no later than November 1, 2022.  
 
Notice of this meeting was posted at the following locations: 
Division of Health and Human Services Carson City Administrative Office Conference Room 149 
1470 E College Parkway Carson City, NV.  
Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, 901 S. Stewart Street, Carson City NV 
Nevada State Library, 100 North Stewart Street, Carson City NV 
Tahoe Regional Planning Agency, 128 Market Street, Stateline NV 
Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency Website at www.lands.nv.gov/land-use-planning/nevada-
tahoe-regional-planning-agency  
Nevada Public Notice Website at www.notice.nv.gov.  

3



1 
 

  

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

901 S. Stewart St. Suite 5003 
Carson City, Nevada  89701-5246 

Phone  (775) 684-2720 
Fax  (775) 684-2721 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
November 3, 2022 
 
Subject:  Discussion and selection of the Nevada Member at Large to serve a one-year 
term commencing on January 1, 2023 pursuant to NRS 277.200, Article 3, section a, 
subsection 2. 
 
Jurisdiction: NRS 278.792 section 2(c) outlines the appointment process for the Nevada 
Member at Large position on the NTRPA Governing Board. Pursuant to the statute, six 
members of the Governing Board make the selection, and the outgoing Nevada Member 
at Large does not vote on the selection. 
 

(c) One member appointed for a 1-year term by the six other members. If at least 
four members are unable to agree upon the selection of a seventh member within 30 
days after this section becomes effective or the occurrence of a vacancy, the 
Governor shall make the appointment. The member appointed pursuant to this 
paragraph may but is not required to be a resident of the region. 

 
If the Governing Board cannot get to a majority vote on the Nevada Member at Large 
selection after 30 days of the vacancy, NRS 278.792 section 3 provides that the Governor 
will make the appointment  
 

3.  If any appointing authority fails to make an appointment within 30 days after the 
effective date of this section or the occurrence of a vacancy on the governing body, 
the Governor shall make the appointment. 

 
Background: Per NRS 278.792, the Governing Board shall make an appointment of the 
Nevada Member at Large position. At the December 4, 2020 meeting, the NTRPA 
Governing Board, after conducting a full recruitment and interview process, appointed 
Hayley Williamson to a one-year term as the Nevada Member at Large. Member 
Williamson’s term began on January 1, 2021 and ended on December 31, 2021.  On 
December 8, 2021 the Governing Board re-appointed Member Williamson to a one-year 

4



2 
 

term as the Nevada Member at Large beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on 
December 31, 2022. 
 
In October, staff received notification from Member Williamson that she would like to be 
considered for reappointment to the NTRPA Governing Board. Attached to this staff 
report is a copy of an email from Member Williamson expressing her interest in being 
considered for reappointment. Under NRS, the Nevada Member at Large is allowed to be 
reappointed to the position by the Governing Board, if the Board desires.  
 
Traditionally, the Governing Board has reappointed the Nevada Member at Large if the 
member wished to continue to serve in this position upon the conclusion of his or her 
term.  However, it is at the discretion of the Governing Board to make the appointment of 
the Nevada Member at Large for a one-year term.  In order to make an appointment, the 
Governing Board may either choose to reappoint Member Williamson, direct staff to 
initiate a recruitment and interview process, or appoint a new Nevada Member at Large 
member.     
 
At the conclusion of the discussion on this item, the Governing Board may vote to 
appoint the Nevada Member at Large position.  Per NRS, a majority vote of the six other 
members is needed to make the appointment of the Nevada Member at Large.  The 
current Nevada Member at Large does not vote on this appointment.  If after the first vote 
there is not a majority, the Governing Board will vote again until they have selected a 
candidate with a majority.  If the Governing Board cannot get to a majority vote on the 
Nevada Member at Large selection, NRS 278.792 section 3 provides that the Governor 
may the make the appointment if the position remains vacant for 30 days. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 

Staff recommends the Governing Board discuss and make an 
appointment of the Nevada Member at Large position per NRS 
278.792 section 2(c) for a one-year term beginning on January 1, 
2023 and ending on December 31, 2023.  
 
 
 
Prepared By: Scott Carey, AICP. State Lands Planner.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit 1: Member Williamson Reappointment Letter of Interest  

5



1

Scott Carey

To: Hayley Williamson
Subject: RE: Nevada Member at Large Reappointment

From: Hayley Williamson <hayley.a.williamson@gmail.com>  
Sent: Monday, October 24, 2022 12:16 PM 
To: Scott Carey <scarey@lands.nv.gov> 
Subject: Re: Nevada Member at Large Reappointment 
 
Hi Scott, 
 
Thank you for the email.  I am very interested and would be delighted and honored to continue serving as Nevada's 
Member at Large.  I have really enjoyed serving in this role and would love to continue to do so.  I'd also love to check in 
with the NTRPA to see if members have any comments or suggestions for me if they choose for me to continue to serve 
on the Board.  Thanks! 
 
Hayley 
 
On Mon, Oct 24, 2022 at 12:10 PM Scott Carey <scarey@lands.nv.gov> wrote: 

Vice Chair Williamson, 

  

As you are aware your term as the Nevada Member at Large on the Nevada Tahoe Regional 
Planning Agency Governing Board expires on December 31, 2022. The purpose of this email is 
gauge your interest in being reappointed by the Governing Board to another 1 year term on the 
Board. Could you please let us know if you are interested and would like to be considered for 
reappointment at the Governing Board’s next meeting? 

  

Thank You, 

  
Scott H. Carey, AICP 
State Lands Planner 
Nevada Division of State Lands 
Department of Conservation and Natural Resources 
901 S. Stewart Street, Suite 5003 
Carson City, NV 89701 
scarey@lands.nv.gov 
(O) 775-684-2723 | (F) 775-684-2721 

 

 

6



1 

 

  

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

901 S. Stewart St. Suite 5003 

Carson City, Nevada  89701-5246 

Phone  (775) 684-2720 

Fax  (775) 684-2721 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 

November 3, 2022 

 

Subject:  Election of a Chair and Vice Chair. 

 

Jurisdiction: NRS 278.800 outlines the election process for the Chair and Vice Chair of 

the NTRPA Governing Board. Pursuant to the statute, upon election both the Chair and 

Vice Chair will serve a 2-year term.  

 

NRS 278.800 Officers: Election; terms; vacancies. The governing body shall 

elect from its own members a chair and vice chair, whose terms of office shall be 

2 years, and who may be reelected. If a vacancy occurs in either office, the 

governing body may fill such vacancy for the unexpired term. 

 

Background: At their December 8, 2021 meeting, the NTRPA Governing Board elected 

Member Hill as its Chair and Member Williamson as its Vice Chair. Pursuant to the 

Governing Board’s action the term of both these positions began on January 1, 2021 and 

end on December 31, 2022. Per NRS 278.800, the term of the Chair and Vice positions 

are for two years. 

 

Customarily, the NTRPA Governing Board at its last meeting of the year elects the Chair 

and Vice Chair position before the terms of these positions end. At its last meeting in 

2020, the terms of the Chair and Vice were expiring and at the time, the NTRPA 

Governing Board was expecting changes to its membership as well as considering the 

appointment of a new Nevada Member at Large.  

 

Because of these changes to the membership of the Governing Board, the board 

leadership at the time felt that it was appropriate to wait until the first meeting of 2021 to 

elect a new Chair and Vice Chair. At the time, staff was anticipating holding a Governing 

Board meeting in early 2021 to consider agency matters, however that meeting was not 

necessary, and the Governing Board was without a Chair and Vice Chair for most of 

2021. At the December 8, 2021 meeting, the Governing Board elected Member Hill as its 

Chair and Member Williamson as its Vice Chair.  

 

7



2 

 

Since this is expected to be the last Governing Board meeting before the terms of the 

Chair and Vice Chair positions expire on December 31st, the Governing Board needs to 

elect a new Chair and Vice Chair. Upon election the new Chair and Vice Chair will serve 

in this role for a two-year term beginning on January 1, 2023 and ending on December 

31, 2024.  

 

The main roles of the Chair position are to run the board meetings, assist staff with the 

development of meeting agendas, sign off on NTRPA certified plans and drawings, and 

sign other letters or official correspondence on behalf of the Governing Board. The main 

purpose of the Vice Chair position is to fill in for the Chair in his or her absence.  

  

  

Staff Recommendation: 

 

Staff recommends that the Governing Board elect a Chair and Vice 

Chair for a 2-year term beginning on January 1, 2023 and ending 

on December 31, 2024.   

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared By: Scott Carey, AICP. State Lands Planner.  

8



 

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

Recognition of Service to the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 

 for Secretary Barbara Cegavske 

 
WHEREAS, Secretary Barbara Cegavske has served on the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning 
Agency (NTRPA) Governing Board representing the Secretary of State of Nevada since 2015; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Secretary Cegavske served as the Vice Chair of the NTRPA from 2019-2020; and 
 
WHEREAS, throughout her tenure on the Governing Board, Secretary Cegavske engaged in and 
meaningfully contributed to numerous policy discussions and business items; and 
 
WHEREAS, Secretary Cegavske helped implement the provisions of the Lake Tahoe Compact 
related to gaming space and "structures housing gaming" (casinos) in the Lake Tahoe Basin; and 
 
WHEREAS, Secretary Cegavske’s service on the Governing Board helped maintain the social and 
economic health of the State by helping preserve the significant scenic, recreational, 
educational, scientific, natural and public health values provided within the Lake Tahoe Basin; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Secretary Cegavske continually emphasized the importance of public participation, 
and increasing the role of public participation in the NTRPA decision-making process to protect 
the scenic and natural beauty of the Lake Tahoe Basin; and 
 
WHEREAS, Secretary Cegavske always treated staff with a great deal of respect, and staff 
always enjoyed her focused and thoughtful participation during Governing Board meetings. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the members of the NTRPA Governing Board and 
agency staff express their gratitude to Secretary Barbara Cegavske for her devoted service to 
the State of Nevada and to the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency.  
 
 
 
              
Alexis Hill       Charlie Donohue 
NTRPA, Chair        NTRPA, Executive Officer 

9



 

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

Recognition of Service to the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 

for Mark Bruce 

 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce served on the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency (NTRPA) 
Governing Board representing the Governor of Nevada from 2013-2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce served as the Vice Chair of the NTRPA from 2015-2016 and Chair of the 
NTRPA from 2017-2018; and 
 
WHEREAS, throughout his tenure on the Governing Board, Mark Bruce engaged in and 
meaningfully contributed to numerous policy discussions and business items; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce helped implement the provisions of the Lake Tahoe Compact related to 
gaming space and "structures housing gaming" (casinos) in the Lake Tahoe Basin; and  
 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce’s service on the Governing Board helped maintain the social and 
economic health of the State by helping preserve the significant scenic, recreational, 
educational, scientific, natural and public health values provided within the Lake Tahoe Basin; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce continually emphasized the importance of public participation, and 
increasing the role of public participation in the NTRPA decision-making process to protect the 
scenic and natural beauty of the Lake Tahoe Basin; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mark Bruce always treated staff with a great deal of respect, and staff always 
enjoyed his focused and thoughtful participation during Governing Board meetings. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the members of the NTRPA Governing Board and 
agency staff express their gratitude to Mark Bruce for his devoted service to the State of 
Nevada and to the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency.  
 
 
 
              
Alexis Hill       Charlie Donohue 
NTRPA, Chair        NTRPA, Executive Officer 

10



1 
 

  

STATE OF NEVADA 

Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency 
 

901 S. Stewart St. Suite 5003 
Carson City, Nevada 89701-5246 

Phone (775) 684-2720 
Fax (775) 684-2721 

 
STAFF REPORT 

 
November 3, 2022 
 
Subject: Recertification of the Certified Base Data for the Tahoe Nugget Structure 
Housing Gaming in Stateline – For Possible Action 
 
Jurisdiction: Pursuant to the Tahoe Regional Planning Compact, the NTRPA Governing 
Board reviews and regulates redevelopment of and modifications to Structures Housing 
Gaming.  The Compact provides the following guidance related to the applicant’s 
request.  
 

 Structures Housing Gaming are buildings operating under a nonrestricted gaming 
license that existed on May 4, 1979 or were approved for construction before that 
date.   

 Structures Housing Gaming are inclusive of their public areas, such as gaming, 
retail, restaurants, meeting areas, etc. and private areas such as hotel rooms and 
parking. 

 Article VI of the Compact limits the amount of Structures Housing Gaming space 
to what was existing, or approved to be constructed, prior to May 4, 1979.   

 Article VI(d)(1) says construction of a structure not so existing, or enlargement in 
cubic volume of any existing or approved structures is prohibited. 
 

To assist the NTRPA Governing Board, certified base data for each Structure Housing 
Gaming was established.  The certified base data documents the areas occupied by 
Structures Housing Gaming as of May 4, 1979.  Certified base data is established for 
each Structure Housing Gaming’s public areas, private areas, gaming, cubic volume, 
coverage, etc.  Because the Compact restricts and even prohibits redevelopment if 
certified base data is exceeded, it is important that the data be accurate. 
 
The Tahoe Regional Planning Compact Article VI, Section (e) states that “Any structure 
housing licensed gaming may be rebuilt or replaced to a size not to exceed the cubic 
volume, height and land coverage existing or approved on May 4, 1979 without the 

11



2 
 

approval of the agency or any planning or regulatory authority of the State of Nevada 
whose review or approval would be required for a new structure.”    
 
NTRPA Ordinance 1980-1 Article 3, Section 3.1 states “When any modification, 
remodeling or change in use of a structure housing gaming requires a permit from the 
permit-issuing authority, an application shall be filed with the agency and with the 
permit-issuing authority showing proof of filing with the agency. The permit-issuing 
authority shall review the application for compliance with this ordinance. The application 
shall be deemed in compliance with this ordinance, if when compared to the base data 
findings on file with the permit-issuing authority, it will not: 

(a) Enlarge the cubic volume of said structure; 
(b) Increase the total square footage of an area open to or approved for public use on 

May 4, 1979; and 
(c) Convert private use area to public use area.”  

 
NTRPA Plan Review Procedures Policy Section 1(d) Changes in Gaming Area states that 
“All plans and proposals which will change the area in square feet devoted to gaming or 
change the location of gaming with any such structure must be accompanied by an 
information report (NRS 277.200, Article VI(g)). The Board will review all information 
reports showing changes in gaming and direct their transmittal to the TRPA.” 
 
Therefore, it is under the jurisdiction of the NTRPA Governing Board to review 
applications that propose changes to Structures Housing Gaming, and in this instance, 
consider a request to recertify the base data for the Tahoe Nugget Structure Housing 
Gaming in Stateline.  
 
Lake Tahoe’s Scenic Character: 
 
In reviewing this request for an extension of time for Condition #1, it is important to 
recall that the Tahoe Regional Planning Compact stresses the importance of the scenic 
character of Lake Tahoe. 
 
Compact, Article I, “Findings of Declaration of Policy: 
 
Section (a)(8) states:  

“Responsibilities for providing recreational and scientific opportunities, 
preserving scenic and natural areas, and safeguarding the public who live, work 
and play in or visit the region are divided among local governments, regional 
agencies, the States of California and Nevada, and the Federal Government.” 

 
Section (a)(10) states: 

“In order to preserve the scenic beauty and outdoor recreational opportunities of 
the region, there is a need to insure an equilibrium between the region’s natural 
endowment and its manmade environment.” 

 
 
 
 

12



3 
 

Background 
 
At its February 2, 1987 meeting, the Governing Board certified the base data for the 
Tahoe Nugget. Below is a breakdown of the certified base data.  
 
Type   Certified Data 
Cubic Volume  200,462 CF 
Site Coverage   11,560 sq ft 
Non-Base Area 6,661 sq ft 
Base Area  9,461 sq ft 
Public Area  16,122 sq ft 
Private Area  0 sq ft    
Gaming Area  8,773 sq ft 
 
A copy of the certified plans for the Tahoe Nugget are included in this staff report 
(Exhibit 7: Original 1987 Certified Plans). 
 
At its December 20, 1995 meeting, the Governing Board, as part of a proposed 
redevelopment of the Tahoe Nugget building, reviewed a request to modify two existing 
stairwells and convert the second floor to non-gaming commercial offices.  The requested 
modifications involved 84 sq ft of public area and 1,830 sq ft of cubic volume. During the 
meeting, the owner stated that the modification to enclose the stairwells was required by 
the building code as part of the change tothe second floor of the building from gaming 
and other public uses to a non-public commercial office space. During the meeting the 
Governing Board expressed concern that the modifications could be perceived as an 
enlargement of cubic volume and could lead to an increase in gaming and base area of the 
structure in the future. The Governing Board wanted assurance that such a request could 
not be made in the future and approved the request subject to the following condition of 
approval:  
 

“Modifications to stairwells made to satisfy public health, safety, and welfare 
requirements as established by applicable building and fire codes to allow use of 
second floor for commercial office space. These modifications, approved by the 
governing board of the Nevada Tahoe Regional Planning Agency during their 
meeting on December 20, 1995, do not add to the current square footage of cubic 
volume of the structure as certified on February 2, 1987.”  
 

A copy of the full meeting minutes from the December 20, 1995 Governing Board 
meeting are included in this staff report (Exhibit 6: 1995 Board Meeting Minutes). 
 
At its July 23, 2020 meeting, the Governing Board found that, although gaming had not 
been conducted onsite for many years, the certified base data for the Tahoe Nugget was 
valid and eligible to be used. At this same meeting the Governing Board approved 
Northern Nevada Comstock Investment’s request to utilize the certified base data subject 
to one Condition of Approval. The Condition of Approval required that the applicant 
submit to the NTRPA detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations within 
6 months after purchasing the site. According to records obtained by the NTRPA from 
Douglas County, Northern Nevada Comstock Investments closed on the purchase of the 

13



4 
 

Tahoe Nugget site on August 19, 2020. In September 2020, agency staff notified the 
applicant that they had until February 19, 2021 to satisfy the requirements of Condition 
#1. 
 
At its December 4, 2020 meeting, the Governing Board approved a request to amend 
Condition #1 associated with the Board’s previous determination for the Tahoe Nugget 
site. The approved amended Condition #1 extended the deadline, allowing the applicant 
to submit the detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations to the agency by 
December 31, 2021.  The approved amended Condition #1 also allowed the applicant to 
submit detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations 6 months after 
commencing each future phase of the project. 
 
As part of its approval at the December 4, 2020 meeting, the Governing Board defined 
the term “commencement”. The Governing Board specified that the term 
“commencement” means that no construction can begin on any phase until such floor 
plans and base data calculations have been reviewed and approved by the NTRPA. The 
intent of the term “commencement” in Condition #1 as it relates to future phases of the 
project is to allow the owners of the site sufficient time to analyze tenant spaces within 
the building as they become vacant. At this same meeting, the Board expressed a desire 
to allow the applicant flexibility and sufficient time to tear down the vacant spaces within 
the existing building and submit the detailed architectural floor plans and base data 
calculations to the agency. However, the Board was clear that no construction or 
reestablishment of any gaming use within the building could begin until the plans were 
reviewed by the NTRPA and found to be in compliance with the certified base data for 
the site. 
 
At the December 8, 2021 meeting the Governing Board approved a request for a second 
amendment to Condition 1 to allow for an additional 6 months (through June 30, 2022) to 
submit detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations for the site. Included 
in the Governing Board’s action was an amendment to Condition 1 requiring the 
applicant for all future phases of the project to submit detailed architectural floor plans 
within 6 months of starting each future phase. Below is the approved Condition 1 
associated with the second extension of time for the certified base data eligibility 
determination for the Tahoe Nugget site. 
 

“The applicant will submit detailed architectural floor plans and base data 
calculations for the Tahoe Nugget building to the NTRPA for the first phase of 
the project by June 30, 2022. For all future phases of the project the applicant will 
submit detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations for the Tahoe 
Nugget building to the NTRPA within 6 months after commencing each phase.”   

 
On May 17, 2022, in compliance with the approved second amendment to Condition 1, 
agency staff received detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations for the 
site from the applicant.  
 
Staff found that the detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations met the 
June 30, 2022 deadline in Condition 1. Since then, Agency staff have been working 

14



5 
 

closely with the applicant to determine whether the data provided meets the 1987 
approved certified base data for the site.  
 
A copy of the detailed architectural floor plans and base data calculations submitted by 
the applicant in compliance with Condition 1 is included in this staff report (Exhibit #1 
Plans Submitted for Condition 1 Eligibility). 
 
 
A copy of photos showing the historical and current conditions of the Tahoe Nugget 
building are also included in this staff report(Exhibit 8: Historical and Current Conditions 
Photos). 
 
At its August 1, 2022 meeting, the Governing Board voted to continue the recertification 
for the Tahoe Nugget to a future meeting. The continuance was requested by the 
applicant to allow for additional time to compile the information needed by staff and the 
Governing Board to consider a recertification request.  
 
Analysis 
 
 
  
At the July 23, 2020 Governing Board meeting, staff proposed that if the architectural 
floor plans and base data calculations for the first phase and future phases of the project 
are substantially in compliance with the certified base data for the site, then staff could 
sign off on the plans and report back to the Governing Board.  At this meeting, staff 
indicated that if architectural floor plans and base data calculations for the first phase and 
future phases of the project were not in compliance with the certified base data, then staff 
would schedule a meeting for the NTRPA Governing Board to consider recertification of 
the certified base data.  
 
Over the past several months, the applicant has examined the Tahoe Nugget’s existing 
conditions as commercial tenants vacate the premises. With increased access to the 
building, the applicant has been able to take accurate measurements. After reviewing the 
updated measurements, staff has determined the existing conditions of the building are 
not consistent with the certified base data.  The public area, non-base area, and cubic 
volume measurements exceed the certified base data.  
Below is a table that breaks down the differences between the certified base data, the 
building’s existing conditions, and staff’s proposed base data recertification.  
 
Table 1: Proposed Tahoe Nugget Recertification 
 
Type   Certified Data  Existing Conditions  Proposed 
Recertification 
Public Area  16,122 sq ft  16,563 sq ft   16,563 sq ft 
Base Area  9,461 sq ft  9,461 sq ft   9,461 sq ft 
Non-Base Area 6,661 sq ft  7,102 sq ft   7,102 sq ft 
Gaming Area  8,773 sq ft  8,773 sq ft   8,773 sq ft 
Private Area  0 sq ft   0 sq ft    0 sq ft 

15



6 
 

Cubic Volume  200,462 CF   226,297 CF   226,297 CF 
Site Coverage   11,560 sq ft  11,560 sq ft   11,560 sq ft 
 
A full breakdown table showing the differences between the 1987 certified base data, 
errors in the 1987 base data, 1995/1995 approved modifications, and the proposed 
recertification is included in this staff report (Exhibit #2 Tahoe Nugget Comparison 
Table).   
 
Cubic Volume 
The volume of the existing Tahoe Nugget building was calculated by the applicant and 
their team of experts to be 226,297 cubic feet. The certified cubic volume, identified by 
NTRPA in 1987, is 200,462 cubic feet. The majority of the difference is a result of an 
error made in the original calculations. The certified plans on file at the agency shows the 
height of the entire ground floor to be 13 feet. After the demolition of the interior on the 
north side of the building, it was discovered that the west portion of the building is a 
different height than the east portion. The east portion of the building is close to 13 feet, 
but the original west section is just over 15 feet.  
 
When this difference is applied to the area of the west section it results in the addition of 
16,890 feet of cubic volume throughout the building that was not accounted for in the 
certified plans on file with the agency. Additional changes were made to the building 
following the redevelopment of the property after 1996 when gaming use ceased. 
Additional changes to the building that were reviewed and approved by the NTRPA and 
the TRPA include the installation of new stairwells, a new entry way, two mechanical 
chases, new building siding, and a second roof with drainage features.  This resulted in an 
additional 8,945 feet of cubic volume.  Combined, there is 25,835 feet of additional cubic 
volume unaccounted for in the certified base data.   
 
Schematics showing the building height errors in the original certified base data and the 
1996 improvements are included in Exhibit #3 Building Changes Diagram. 
 
Public Area 
According to the applicant’s team of experts there is a difference from the existing 
condition of the building and the certified public area of the building. The total public 
area of the building is 16,563 sq ft which is larger than the 16,122 sq ft of certified public 
area. According to the applicant, the additional 441 sq ft of public area can be accounted 
for by the changes made in 1996 to the stairways on the north and south sides of the 
building. There were also changes to the overall size of the building that are believed to 
be the result of adding wood siding and trim to the building exterior which originally was 
concrete masonry. On the second floor of the building are two mechanical chases that 
have been added to the building that were not accounted for in the certified base data.  
 
A breakdown detailing the increase in the public area has been provided by the applicant. 
Please see Exhibit 4: Public Area Breakdown. 
 
Base and Non-Base Areas 
The base and non-base areas of the site’s certified data are a subset of the overall public 
area. Said a different way, the public area is the sum of the base and non-base areas. The 

16



7 
 

TRPA Compact defines base area as the area within a structure housing non-restricted 
gaming that is open to public use whether gaming is carried on in that area or not. Non-
base areas are areas that are opening to the public but are used for uses like retail stores, 
convention centers, meeting rooms, administrative offices, rest rooms, kitchens, counting 
rooms, and mechanical areas.  After review, staff have determined the additional 441 sq 
ft of public area resulting from the 1996 modifications to stairwells, mechanical chases, 
etc fall into the non-base area definition.    
 
The applicant’s Phase 1 interior remodel proposal includes reconfiguring uses that fall 
into non-base and base areas.  These proposed square footages do not conform with the 
certified base data (current and proposed).  However, the Compact allows non-base or 
base area square footages to be exceeded without NTRPA Board approval as long as the 
Public Area square footage is not exceeded.   
 
A diagram and list of definitions of NTRPA certified base data is included in this staff 
reports. Please see Attachment #5 NTRPA Diagram and Definitions.  
 
Staff believes that the proposed recertification request will more accurately reflect the 
conditions of the building today and allow the NTRPA to better administer the provisions 
related to gaming on the Tahoe Nugget site in accordance with the provisions of the 
Tahoe Regional Planning Compact.  Updated certified base data for the site will allow the 
agency to make an accurate determination on whether a recertification request to the 
Governing Board will be warranted when reviewing future phases of the project. As 
indicated at the July 23, 2020 Governing Board meeting, staff proposes that if the 
architectural floor plans and base data calculations for future phases of the project are 
substantially in compliance within the cubic volume and public areas of the certified base 
data, then staff will have the ability to sign off on the plans for compliance and report 
back to the Governing Board.  If the architectural floor plans and base data calculations 
for future phases of the project are not in compliance with the certified base data, staff 
will then schedule a meeting for the NTRPA Governing Board to consider recertification 
of the certified base data or deny the request.  
 
Findings 
 
Paragraph (f) of Article VI of the TRPA Compact prohibits modifications to structures 
housing gaming if the modification will: 
 

1. Enlarge the cubic volume of the structure;  
2. Increase the total square footage of the area open to or approved for public 
use on May 4, 1979;  
3. Convert an area devoted to the private use of guests to an area open to 
public use; 
4. Increase the public area which is used for gaming beyond 15% of the total 
base area existing on August 4, 1980; or 
5. Conflict with or be subject to the provisions of any of the agency’s 
ordinance that are generally applicable throughout the region.   

 
Enlarge the cubic volume of the structure 

17



8 
 

 
Staff finds that the proposed recertification does not result in an increase in the cubic 
volume of the structure. The proposed recertification of the cubic volume is a result of 
errors discovered in the cubic volume of the site that were not properly accounted for in 
the original certified base data for the Tahoe Nugget. Additionally, the proposed 
recertification of the cubic volume captures approved life safety and building code 
compliance changes to the building that occurred when the gaming use was not on the 
property between 1996 and 2022. It is the opinion of staff that the proposed 
recertification does not increase the cubic volume of the structure but rather accurately  
“trues up” the base data.  
 
Increase the total square footage of the area open to or approved for public use on May 4, 
1979 (certified data) 
 
Staff finds that the proposed recertification does not result in an increase in areas open to 
or approved for public use. The proposed recertification of the public areas captures the 
approved life safety and building code compliance changes to building that were added to 
the building after 1996 during the time when the gaming use was not on the propertyIt is 
the opinion of staff that the proposed recertification does not increase the public areas of 
the structure but rather  “trues up” the base data.  
 
Convert an area devoted to the private use of guests to an area open to public use 
 
Staff finds that the proposed recertification does not convert any private use to public use. 
There are no private areas included in the certified base data for the Tahoe Nugget.  
 
Increase the public area which is used for gaming beyond 15% of the total base area 
existing on August 4, 1980 
 
Staff finds that the proposed recertification request does not increase the public areas 
used for gaming beyond the 15% of the total base area on the site. The total certified 
gaming area of the Tahoe Nugget site is 8,773 sq ft. The applicant is not proposing any 
changes to the certified gaming area on the site. According to the applicant the project 
will only utilize 6,090 sq ft of the certified gaming area on the site as part of phase 1. The 
applicant has expressed interest to staff in further utilizing the gaming area on the site in 
future phases. All future phases of the project will be subject to NTRPA review and are 
required to be within the certified base gaming area.  
 
Conflict with or be subject to the provisions of any of the agency’s ordinance that are 
generally applicable throughout the region 
 
Staff finds that the recertification request does not conflict with, or is subject to, any other 
agency ordinances. In accordance with NTRPA Plan Review Procedures Policy Section 
1(d) if the recertification request is approved by the Governing Board the applicant will 
be required to submit updated plan sheets and informational report with the new certified 
base data on the site for review staff and final approval by the Governing Board Chair.  
 
Staff Recommendation  

18



9 
 

 
In accordance with the above referenced findings. staff recommends the approval of the 
recertification request for the Tahoe Nugget site. The requested recertification is 
consistent with the Governing Board’s previous approval determination of the eligibility 
of the certified base data on the site and is in compliance with the Tahoe Regional 
Planning Compact, NTRPA Ordinance 1980-1, and the NTRPA Plan Review Procedures 
Policy. It is staff’s interpretation of these regulations that the intent of regulating 
Structures Housing Gaming within the Lake Tahoe basin was to freeze the square 
footages of the certified base data and location of these uses in order to achieve the 
findings and declaration of policy of the Tahoe Regional Planning Compact.  It is staff’s 
opinion that the errors in the original certified base data and modifications made to the 
building for life and safety improvements since 1996 do not result in an increase in the 
cubic volume or the public areas of the structure. The proposed recertification of the base 
data will provide the agency with accurate building calculations and plans to reestablish 
the gaming use on the site consistent with the Governing Board’s determination of 
eligibility in 2020 and the findings and declarations of policy in the Tahoe Regional 
Planning Compact. 
 

Suggested Motion: I move to find that there were errors and 
omissions in the original certified base data and in the previously 
approved modifications to the Tahoe Nugget building. I move to 
recertify the public area, cubic volume, non-base area and base 
area of the Tahoe Nugget site, Douglas County APN 1318-23-401-
049 as outlined in Table 1 of the November 3, 2022 staff report.  
 
 
Prepared By: Scott Carey, AICP. State Lands Planner.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



10 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Exhibit 1: Plans Submitted for Condition 1 Eligibility  
 
Exhibit 2: Tahoe Nugget Comparison Table.   
 
Exhibit 3: Building Changes Diagram 
 
Exhibit 4: Public Area Breakdown. 
 
Exhibit 5: NTRPA Diagram and Definitions  
 
Exhibit 6: 1995 Board Meeting Minutes 
 
Exhibit 7: Original 1987 Certified Plans 
 
Exhibit 8: Historical and Current Conditions Photos 
 
Exhibit 9: Revised NTRPA Certified Base Table with Proposed Changes 
 

20



21



22



23



24



CERTIFIED 
BASE DATA

1987 ERRORS/ 
OMISSION

1995/1996/2000 
TRPA / DOUGLAS 
MODIFICATION 

APPROVAL
CURRENT 

CONDITIONS

PHASE 1 
PROPOSED 
INTERIOR 

REMODEL PLAN DIFFERENCES*

PROPOSED 
RECERTIFIED 
BASE DATA

PUBLIC AREA 16,122 16,122 16,563 16,563 16,563 441 16,563
BASE AREA 9,461 9,461 0 9,461 7,478 -1,983 9,461
NON-BASE AREA 6,661 6,069 0 7,102 9,085 2,424 7,102
GAMING 8,773 8,773 0 8,773 6,090 -2,683 8,773
PRIVATE AREA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
CUBIC VOLUME 200,462 217,352 226,297 226,297 226,297 25,835 226,297
SITE COVERAGE 11,560 11,560 11,560 11,560 0 11,560
CUBIC VOLUME CHANGE 16,890 8,945

* CERTIFIED DATA +/- PROPOSED PHASE 1 PLAN

25



26



Charlie Donohue
Re: Request to Recertify Base Data
Tahoe Nugget (formerly Ed’s Tahoe Nugget)
September 19, 2022 
Exhibit E pg 3 of 4

27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



C
ha

rli
e 

D
on

oh
ue

Re
: R

eq
ue

st
 to

 R
ec

er
tif

y 
Ba

se
 D

at
a

Ta
ho

e 
N

ug
ge

t (
fo

rm
er

ly
 E

d’
s T

ah
oe

 N
ug

ge
t)

Se
pt

em
be

r 1
9,

 2
02

2 
Ex

hi
bi

t A
2 

pg
 1

 o
f 2

50



C
ha

rli
e 

D
on

oh
ue

Re
: R

eq
ue

st
 to

 R
ec

er
tif

y 
Ba

se
 D

at
a

Ta
ho

e 
N

ug
ge

t (
fo

rm
er

ly
 E

d’
s T

ah
oe

 N
ug

ge
t)

Se
pt

em
be

r 1
9,

 2
02

2 
Ex

hi
bi

t A
2 

 p
g 

2 
of

 3

51



Charlie Donohue
Re: Request to Recertify Base Data
Tahoe Nugget (formerly Ed’s Tahoe Nugget)
September 19, 2022 
Historical Photos pg 1 of 3

52



Charlie Donohue
Re: Request to Recertify Base Data
Tahoe Nugget (formerly Ed’s Tahoe Nugget)
September 19, 2022 
Historical Photos pg 2 of 3

53



Charlie Donohue
Re: Request to Recertify Base Data
Tahoe Nugget (formerly Ed’s Tahoe Nugget)
September 19, 2022 
Historical Photos pg 3 of 3

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



C
ha

rli
e 

D
on

oh
ue

Re
: R

eq
ue

st
 to

 R
ec

er
tif

y 
Ba

se
 D

at
a

Ta
ho

e 
N

ug
ge

t (
fo

rm
er

ly
 E

d’
s T

ah
oe

 N
ug

ge
t)

Se
pt

em
be

r 1
9,

 2
02

2 
Ex

hi
bi

t D
 p

g 
1 

of
 2

61



Charlie Donohue
Re: Request to Recertify Base Data
Tahoe Nugget (formerly Ed’s Tahoe Nugget)
September 19, 2022 
Exhibit D pg 2 of 2

62



PUBLIC AREA BASE AREA

NON-BASE 

AREA GAMING PRIVATE AREA

CUBIC 

VOLUME

SITE 

COVERAGE

PROPERTY (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.) (sq. ft.)

SOUTH SHORE

BILLS/BARNEYS* 18,498 14,019 4,479 10,492 0 221,103 7,460

CAESARS 425,667 245,857 179,910 95,566 553,873 13,088,431 310,329

HARRAHS 569,323 324,000 245,323 72,650 1,839,998 25,954,176 417,383

NORTH CASINO 34,175 20,126 14,049 16,501 0 452,016 19,936

HARVEYS

Mountain Tower 290,346 133,834 156,512 101,967 96,115 5,209,727 94,507

Lake Tower 301,265 184,360 116,905 29,650 331,982 8,708,006 54,501

Parking I 82,583 56,928 25,655 0 536,935 5,186,816 113,764

Parking II 28,130 3,630 24,500 0 224,007 2,288,096 -

Parking III WILL BE COMPUTED WHEN CONSTRUCTED

HORIZON 334,362 153,064 181,298 78,845 1,171,442 19,199,464 347,185

LAKESIDE INN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

EDS TAHOE NUGGET 16,563 9,461 7,102 8,773 0 226,297 11,560

NORTH SHORE

CAL NEVA 89,430 46,135 42,970 25,827 86,159 2,171,161 58,894

CRYSTAL BAY CLUB 51,616 19,516 32,100 16,184 185,238 2,120,654 79,007

HYATT 125,842 59,041 67,481 23,684 196,808 3,954,953 90,579

KELLEYS NUGGET

Prior to Fire 14,934 14,934 0 3,790 0 172,550 5,075

As Rebuilt -13,854 -8,794 -5,060 -3,683 0 -170,164 -4,895

MARINER 21,714 13,315 8,399 12,200 9,732 359,370 23,662

TAHOE BILTMORE 74,375 46,588 27,787 29,744 21,032 1,513,758 42,797

NOTES: 

                            

In 2000, the NTRPA approved changes to the base data to the Hyatt as part of a renovation project.

In 2011, the NRTPA seperated the North Casino from Harrah's.

In 2018, the NTRPA recertified the total cubic volume of the Cal Neva.

In 2022, the NTRPA retired the certified base data for the Lakeside Inn.

In 2022, the NTRPA recertified the total cubic volume, public, base, and non-base areas of Ed's Tahoe Nugget.

NEVADA TAHOE REGIONAL PLANNING AGENCY

Some of the figures include "approved but unbuilt" area.

Eds Tahoe Nugget has been converted into an office-retail building without gaming.  

The Mariner is not in operation and the structure has been demolished.

In 1993 the NTRPA acknowledged that 10,879.5 sq ft of private use area in the Crystal Bay Club had historically been and may continue to be in public 

use, but may not be used in calculating the base and the allowable gaming area. 

BASE   DATA   SUMMARIES

November 2022

scarey
Typewritten Text

scarey
Typewritten Text
63

scarey
Typewritten Text


	Exhibit 1-Plans Submitted for Condition 1 Eligibility.pdf
	8.5x11
	Exhibit F - Phase 1 Tahoe Nugget Improvement Plans
	Sheets and Views
	Tahoe Nugget Improvement Plans-Gaming Area Phase One
	Tahoe Nugget Improvement Plans-Gaming Area Project Completion
	Tahoe Nugget Improvement Plans-Gaming Area Second Floor
	Tahoe Nugget Improvement Plans-Gaming Sections



	Exhibit 3-Building Changes Diagram.pdf
	8.5x11
	Exhibit A3 - Sheet G5 TRPA and NTRPA Building Changes
	Sheets and Views
	Volume and Area Analysis



	Exhibit 7-Original 1987 Certified Plans.pdf
	8.5x11
	Exhibit A2 - Original 1987 Base Data
	South Tahoe Nugget 1
	South Tahoe Nugget 2


	Exhibit 8-Historical and Current Conditions Photos.pdf
	wnhpcfb794505943979221-s
	wnhpcfb813910738705408
	wnhpcfb10210810603492830-m
	Exhibit D - Photos of Addition to Roof TRPA 1995.pdf
	8.5x11
	Exhibit D - Photos of Addition to Roof TRPA 1995
	P1020738
	P1020739


	Exhibit D - Photos of Addition to Roof TRPA 1995.pdf
	8.5x11
	Exhibit D - Photos of Addition to Roof TRPA 1995
	P1020738
	P1020739






